90369-7

SUPREME COURT NO. COURT OF APPEALS NO. 70395-1-I

SUPREME COURT, STATE OF WASHINGTON

DONNA GARCIA, A Washington Resident; CONCEPCION GARCIA, an Individual; PATRICIA JANE LEIKAM, as the Administrator of the Estate of Tiairra Garcia, A Deceased Person,

Petitioners,

v.

THE CITY OF PASCO, WASHINGTON, A Municipal City, et al.

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT



Mark D. Kimball, WSBA No. 13146 mkimball@mdklaw.com James P. Ware, WSBA No. 36799 jware@mdklaw.com MDK LAW 777 108th Ave. NE, Suite 2170 Bellevue, WA 89004 (425) 455-9610

Attorneys for Petitioners

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	B. Procedural History4
	Robb v. City of Seattle and Washburn v. City of Federal Way6
IV.	LEGAL ARGUMENT10
	A. Introduction
	C. Washburn and Robb Hold that the City Owed a Duty to Tiairra Garcia15
	D. A Finding that the City Owed a Duty to Tiairra Garcia Will not Unduly Burden Officers Responding to 911 Calls
V	CONCLUSION 17

TABLE OF AUTHORITY

<u>Page</u>		
Cases		
Parrilla v. King County, 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007)12		
Robb v. City of Seattle, 159 Wn. App. 133, 245 P.3d 242 (2010) in passim		
Sheikh v. Choe, 156 Wn.2d 441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006)10		
Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) in passim		
Court Rules		
RAP 13.412		
CR 5612		
Secondary Material		
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS 302B in passim		
Appendix		
 RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 302B Order Denying Motion to Publish Unpublished Opinion No. 70395-1-I 		

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AT ISSUE

Donna Garcia, Concepcion Garcia, and the Estate of Tiairra Garcia (collectively referred to as "Garcia") hereby petition this Court for review of the Court of Appeals, Division I's decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Garcia's claims on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals, Division I Case Number for which review is sought is 70395-1-I. the opinion terminating review was filed on March 24, 2014. The order denying Respondent's motion to publish was entered on April 28, 2014.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

For purposes of RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 302B does an officer engage in an affirmative act when he arrives at a potential crime scene with the knowledge that an injured person was dragged into the back of a residence with a history of domestic disputes and when the responding officer either knew or should have reasonably known that his presence would have caused all persons who knew of the injured person to cease to render aid?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background.

This case stems from the death of Tiairra Garcia from a gunshot wound on June 22, 2008 at 1911 Parkview, Pasco, Washington as the Pasco Police stood outside the residence. The officer treated the scene as

a hit and run despite the fact that a neighbor had contacted 911 and informed it that the occupants of the van were dragging an obviously injured person into the back of the home, that a domestic dispute had occurred there days early, and that something other than a simple hit and run was transpiring.

The van, and Tiairra, ended up at 1911 Parkview on June 22, 2008 because after being ejected from a tavern, Tiairra Garcia was shot by the other passengers of the van as they exchanged a handgun.¹

As relevant to this Petition, the City of Pasco stipulated that the following facts occurred after the van came to rest at 1911 Parkview:

- One caller informed 911 that the vehicle appeared to be on fire and that two males were carrying a body/person into the backyard of 1911 Parkview;
- 2. Once caller continued to be in contact with 911 until an unknown police officer arrived;
- 911 dispatch indicated that the officer had all the information conveyed through the emergency call and that the police would be responding accordingly;
- 4. The officer spoke with the alleged owner of 1911 Parkview and left shortly thereafter; and

¹ CP 379. It should be noted that Pasco effectively stipulated to certain facts contained in Garcia's complaint for the purposes of its Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* CP 381-2.

5. The officer did not investigate the backyard of 1911 Parkview, did not investigate the van, and did not attempt to enter the home.²

The caller—John Gorton—who informed 911 that Tiairra Garcia was being dragged into the back of the house provided the following statements to 911:

Operator: 911

Gorton: Yeah I live across the street from 1611³ Parkview and there's something going on over there. There's smoke coming out of a van on the north side of the house.

Operator: OK and what's the address there?

Gorton: 1611 Parkview.

Operator: 1611 Parkview?

Gorton: Yeah and there's been a little, ah like a Chevy Love or small Chevy S10 pickup driven by like...

Operator: And is that the address of the house?

Gorton: It's driven by like 7-8 times.

Operator: Where is the smoke coming from?

Gorton: It's coming from the north side of the house. I don't know if its outside the house.

Operator: OK do you see flames?

Gorton: No, no flames, just smoke. They pulled somebody out of a van in the back of the house, drove them to the back of the house.

Operator: Do you know if it's a car or the house?

² CP 380-82 These stipulated facts served as the factual basis for the City's Motion for Summary Judgment.

³ The address is actually 1911.

Gorton: I don't know. The smoke is gone now.

Operator: So the smoke is gone?

Gorton: Yeah, there's something going on over there. You need to get somebody over there. There was a huge domestic fight last night.

Gorton: Police are here now.

Operator: Police are here now?

Gorton: Yeah.

Operator: What's your name?

Gorton: John Gorton.

Operator: John Gorton.

Operator: Did you guys already call?

Gorton: No.

Operator: OK. Thank you. Bye bye.4

Despite having this information, the officer conducted only a cursory investigation of the house, called a tow truck, and left.⁵ At some point during his investigation or shortly thereafter, Tiairra Garcia died while inside 1911 Parkview.

B. Procedural History.

Garcia brought claims against the City of Pasco for the negligent acts of the Pasco Police when the officer responded to the 911 calls.⁶

Specifically, Garcia alleged that when Pasco Police dispatched an officer to 1911 Parkview, it acted negligently because the officer failed to address

⁴ CP 348-9.

⁵ CP 381.

⁶ CP 418-9.

the specific information provided to Pasco Police through the 911 calls, namely the information provided by John Gorton and Melissa Genett.⁷ In particular, despite the fact that the Gorton/Genett call specifically alerted Pasco Police to the fact that Tiairra Garcia was being dragged into the back of 1911, Pasco Police treated the incident solely as a hit and run.⁸

The City of Pasco moved for summary judgment based exclusively on the theory that Pasco owed no duty to Tiairra Garcia because of the public duty doctrine. In response, Garcia argued that Tiairra Garcia fell within the voluntary rescue exception to the doctrine. Further, Garcia requested a continuance to obtain the signatures of Genett and Gorton on declarations based upon their conversation with Franklin County 911, what they observed, and their understanding of why the police had arrived at 1911 Parkview. The trial court granted summary judgment finding that the public duty doctrine shielded Pasco Police because under the facts of this case the City could not be found to have owed a duty to Tiairra Garcia.

⁷ CP 419.

⁸ CP 381-2

⁹ CP 379-402

¹⁰ The court ultimately denied a continuance to obtain the signatures because it found that the content of the declarations was not relevant as to whether the public duty doctrine served as a complete bar to Garcia's claims. This position was later affirmed in the trial court's denial of Garcia's motion for reconsideration. VR 2-6; CP 15-17

¹¹ CP 95-98

Garcia then filed a motion for reconsideration based upon deposition testimony of Gorton and Genett that Garcia was not able to obtain prior to the December 20, 2010 summary judgment hearing.¹² In particular, Garcia focused on the testimony of Melissa Genett who indicated that she would have done something more than simply have Gorton call 911 had she known that the responding officer was not going to investigate the information she and Gorton relayed to 911.¹³ The trial court denied Garcia's motion for reconsideration.¹⁴ Garcia then filed a timely notice of appeal.

1. Robb v. City of Seattle and Washburn v. City of Federal Way.

While this matter was pending before the Court of Appeals, this

Court rendered two key decisions: Robb v. City of Seattle and

Washburn v. City of Federal Way. 15 Garcia argued in briefing and at
oral argument that the holdings in Robb and Washburn were dispositive.

Specifically Garcia argued in briefing and at oral argument that under the
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 302B, the City owed Garcia a duty
because it should have reasonably known that the officer's affirmative acts
exposed Tiairra Garcia to the greater danger of criminal activities by the

¹² CP 104, CP 84-88

¹³ CP 39-40

¹⁴ CP 15-17

¹⁵ 176 Wn.2d 427, 295 P.3d 212 (2013); 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013).

This argument was based upon language found both in **Robb** and **Washburn**. In **Robb**, this Court acknowledge that an officer may owe a duty to protect a third party from the criminal acts of another absent a special relationship, but only if the affirmative act of the officer somehow increases or exposes the third party to a greater risk of peril. **Robb v. City of Seattle**, 176 Wn.2d 247, 435-6, 295 P.3d 212 (2013). The key analysis, this Court explained, was whether the exposure to peril was the result of a commission or an omission. **Id.** at 436-7. If the officer's affirmative acts create the peril, then there is no need to establish the existence of a special relationship between the officer and the injured third party. **Id.** "Liability for nonfeasance (or omissions), on the other hand, is largely confined to situations where a special relationship exists." **Id.** at 436.

Approximately nine months after the **Robb** decision, this Court expanded on its analysis of Restatement § 302B in **Washburn v. City of Federal Way**. In **Washburn**, the estate of Baerbel K. Roznowski sued the City of Federal Way for negligently serving an antiharassment order on her partner Paul Chan Kim. **Washburn v. City of Federal Way**, 178 Wn. 2d 732, 739-40, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). In 2008, Roznowski decided to move to California, away from Kim. **Id.** at 739. As the result of a

¹⁶ App. Brief on Appeal at pp. 17-18.

domestic fight related to the move, Roznowski decided to obtain an antiharassment order against Kim. Id. As part of her application for the antiharassment order, Roznowski provided a law enforcement information sheet (LEIS) that indicated she lived with Kim, that he would likely react violently upon receipt of the antiharassment order, and that an interpreter would be needed given Kim's limited proficiency in English. Id. The LEIS was given to the officer who served the order on Kim. Id. Despite the information provided by Roznowski, the officer did not bring an interpreter with him to serve Kim. Further, when he served Kim, the officer saw Roznowski in the residence but did not interact with her nor did he inquire as to her safety. **Id.** at 740. Instead, he simply served Kim with the order, informed Kim that he would need to appear at court, and left. Id. This left Roznowski to read and explain the order to Kim. Id. A fight ensued and sometime later Kim stabbed Roznowski to death and attempted to kill himself. Id.

In finding that Federal Way was partially liable for Roznowski's death, this Court stated that the officer owed Roznowski a duty to act reasonably when he served Kim with the antiharassment order which, given Kim's history and the information provided by Roznowski, included a duty to safeguard against the criminal conduct of Kim. **Washburn**, 178 Wn.2d at 759. Critically, the Court contrasted the facts in **Washburn** to

the facts in **Robb**. **Id.** at 759-60. The court noted that in **Washburn**, the officer's arrival at the home shared by Kim and Roznowski introduced a new risk. **Id.** at 760. In contrast, the officers in **Robb** ""failed to remove a risk" not of their own creation..." **Washburn**, 178 Wn.2d at 758-9(*citing* **Robb**, 176 Wn.2d at 438). In affirming that Federal Way owed a duty to Roznowski, this Court noted that:

[t]he City had a duty to act here, and this duty required the City to act in a reasonable manner. [The officer] knew or should have known that Roznowski and Kim were both present and that his service of the antiharassment order might trigger Kim to act violently. Given this knowledge or constructive knowledge and Kim's proximity to Roznowski when [the officer] served Kim, [the officer's] duty to act reasonably required him to take steps to guard Roznowski against Kim's criminal acts. Id. at 762.

At oral argument Garcia argued that the holdings in **Robb** and **Washburn** established that the City owed a duty to Tiairra Garcia. Like the officer in **Washburn**, the arrival of the officer at 1911 introduced a new peril because it caused the neighbor, Genett, to cease to render aid.

In affirming the trial court's decision, Division I stated that the City took no affirmative acts because the "record does not demonstrate that the police promised to investigate Gorton's statement or were even aware of it." Further, the court found that the city's failure to investigate was an omission similar to the omission of the officers in the **Robb**

¹⁷ Opinion at p. 8

matter. ¹⁸ As a result, Division I affirmed the trial court's decision dismissing Garcia's claims on summary judgment.

Respondent timely filed a Motion to publish on April 14, 2014.

Respondent's Motion was denied on April 28, 2014. Petitioners now file this timely Petition for Review to the Supreme Court.

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Introduction.

Petitioners seek review of Division I's decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Petitioners' claims pursuant to CR 56. Because Petitioners' claims were dismissed pursuant to CR 56, review of Division I's decision is de novo. **Sheikh v. Choe**, 156 Wn.2d 441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006). Discretionary review of the Court of Appeals, Division I's decision is proper because the Court's decision directly contradicts the holdings in two recent Supreme Court opinions: **Robb v. City of Seattle** and **Washburn v. City of Federal Way**. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). Here, the Court of Appeals erred when it found that the City did not owe Tiairra Garcia a duty. The officer's arrival at 1911 introduced a new risk to Tiairra Garcia because it caused Genett to cease to render aid. When the officer arrived at the scene, the City owed a duty to Tiairra Garcia to act reasonable given the information provided to it. Under the facts of this

¹⁸ <u>Id</u>.

case, that meant that the City owed a duty to investigate and render aid to Tiairra Garcia in order to prevent further harm to her from the illegal acts of Hollinquest and Lockhard. The officer's failure to investigate Tiairra Garcia being dragged into the back of the house constituted the breach of the duty the City owed to Tiairra Garcia, not an omission as Division I asserted in its opinion. Therefore, the Court of Appeals erred when it focused its attention on the investigation by the officer and not his arrival at the scene. The officer's arrival at the scene constituted an affirmative act which, under the facts of this case, gave rise to a duty owed by the City to Tiairra Garcia.

As set forth in **Washburn**, an officer has a duty to perform his job function reasonably given the information provided to him. The officer in **Washburn** acted affirmatively when he arrived at the home shared by Roznowski and Kim. The omissions he then performed, failure to bring an interpreter, failure to ask if Roznowski needed assistance, failure to stand by to ensure Kim would not become violent, served as the basis for the argument that Federal Way breached its duty. Similarly here, the affirmative act by Pasco was the officer's arrival at 1911 Parkview. This affirmative act created a duty to protect Tiairra Garcia against potential criminal activities given the information conveyed by Gorton and Genett. The officer's failure to investigate the scene given the information relayed

by Gorton and Genett constituted a breach of that duty. Because the duty owed to Tiairra Garcia was created when the officer arrived at 1911 Parkview, the Court of Appeals erred when it affirmed the dismissal of Garcia's claims. Pasco owed a duty to Tiairra Garcia and therefore this matter should proceed to trial.

B. When the Police Officer Arrived at 1911 Parkview he Committed an Affirmative Act that Gave Rise to a Duty Under RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 302(B)

The key to liability under RESTATMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 302B is that the actor's conduct must somehow alter the situation such that the degree of risk of harm has increased. *See* Robb v. City of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 427, 436, 295 P.3d 212, 217 (2013); Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 757, 310 P.3d 1275, 1289 (2013); Parrilla v. King County, 138 Wn. App. 427, 437, 157 P.3d 879, 884 (2007). As stated in Washburn liability under Restatement § 302B may arise if the government agent's action increases the risk that a third party will be injured by the criminal conduct of another. Washburn, 178 Wn.2d at 758. Merely failing to removing an existing risk of criminal conduct, however, does not give rise to a duty under Restatement § 302(B). Id. at 758-59; see also Robb, 176 Wn.2d at 435-36. In Washburn, the affirmative act was serving the anti-harassment order. Even though the officer had a duty to serve the order, doing so created a new risk to

Roznowski that Kim may become violent. **Washburn**, 178 Wn.2d at 759-60. Because of the new risk, i.e. Kim's documented history of violence and the fact that he did not speak English, the officer owed a duty separate from his statutory duty to serve the antiharassment order. That duty was to serve the antiharassment order in such a manner as to safeguard against violence towards Roznowski.

In Garcia's case, the act that gave rise to a duty was the officer arriving at 1911 Parkview in response to the 911 calls. When the officer arrived, he had knowledge that Garcia was injured and that a domestic dispute had recently occurred at the residence. Therefore, he had a duty to act reasonably given the information provided to him via the 911. That included a duty to Tiairra Garcia to take steps to protect her from potential criminal acts of Hollinquest and Lockhard. The act that gave rise to the duty was an affirmative act, not a failure to act as the Court of Appeals asserted. Again, discussion of what the officer failed to do upon arriving at the scene merely illustrated how he acted improperly and therefore breach the duty owed to Tiairra Garcia. The duty owed to Tiairra Garcia, however, arose when he arrived at the scene. Accordingly, reversal of the Court of Appeals decision is proper.

In **Washburn**, the City of Federal Way attempted to adopt a rationale similar to that adopted by Division I in this matter. The City of

Federal argued that Restatement § 302B did not create a duty owed to Roznowski because the case was one of nonfeasance rather than one of misfeasance. Washburn, 178 Wn.2d at 760. In rejecting the argument, this Court stated that the examples provided at trial regarding the officer's failure to act merely illustrated how the city improperly served the antiharassment order. Id. However, the duty arose when the officer arrived at Roznowski and Kim's residence to serve the antiharassment order. That action constituted an affirmative act. Id. In Washburn the officer did not perform his duties in a reasonable fashion because he did not consider that the antiharassment order would likely result in a violent outburst by Kim and that Roznowski was present when he served the antiharassment order. Id. at 759-60. Therefore, the officer's presence at the residence increased the likelihood of violence and under Restatement § 302B, the officer had a duty to act reasonable given the situation.

Similarly a duty to protect Tiairra Garcia arose when the responding officer arrived at 1911 Parkview. Gorton and Genett alerted Pasco of the fact that Tiairra Garcia was being dragged into the back of the house, that there was a history of domestic disputes at the house, and that something other than a mere hit and run was transpiring. As a result, the officer should have reasonably known that if he did not act upon the

information provided to the 911 operator then his presence would actually increase the risk of harm Tiairra Garcia faced.

C. Washburn and Robb Hold that the City Owed a Duty to Tiairra Garcia.

Once the officer arrived at the scene, he owed a duty to Tiairra Garcia to act reasonably given the information conveyed to him through the 911 calls. Critically, in **Washburn** the Court clarified what actions and circumstances may give rise to a duty under Restatement § 302(B). Namely, the Court clarified that under certain circumstances a duty may arise when an officer performs his customary duties as an officer. In Washburn the officer was serving an antiharassment order, something typically performed by officers. Washburn, 178 Wn.2d at 753-5. While such activities normally would not give rise to a duty pursuant to Restatement § 302B, the facts surrounding Kim and his relationship with Roznowski gave rise to a duty. **Id.** at 759-60. In **Robb**, the Court found that the "situation of peril [in the Robb matter] existed before law enforcement stopped Behre, and the danger was unchanged by the officer's actions." Robb, 176 Wn.2d at 438. Because the officers in **Robb** did nothing but fail to remove a risk, they did not introduce a new risk or augment an existing risk and therefore liability under 302(b) did not apply. In **Washburn** though, the risk was much more apparent and it was the officer's performance of his duties that greatly increased the risk

to Roznowski. In **Washburn**, Court recognized that a duty can be created by the officer's presence a potential crime scene—even when performing actions customarily carried out by officers—and the duty is breached by a failure to act reasonably given the knowledge the officer has going into the scene.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's dismissal of Garcia's claims because:

their failure to investigate was an omission. Like the officers in **Robb**, the police did not create a new risk. Instead, they failed to reduce an already-existing risk: Tiairra's injuries from the gunshot." Conversely, the driver in <u>Parrilla</u> increased the risk to nearby drivers through his affirmative act of leaving the buss running with an erratic passenger inside. Here, the officers' failure to investigate was nonfeasance, which does not give rise to liability under § 302B. ¹⁹

This position, however, mimic's Federal Way's failed argument in Washburn. The duty arose when the officer arrived at the scene knowing that: (1) they had dragged someone into the back of the house and (2) that there was a domestic dispute at 1611 Parker the night before, and (3) that the neighbors were concerned that someone was injured. Given this information the officer either knew or should have known that someone was injured by the perpetrators of an ongoing crime and that his presence would cause the neighbors to cease to render aid. Given this information,

¹⁹ Opinion at p. 9.

the officer owed a duty to Tiairra Garcia under Restatement § 302B to perform his duties reasonably given the circumstances.

D. A Finding that the City Owed a Duty to Tiairra Garcia Will not Unduly Burden Officers Responding to 911 Calls.

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