RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 27, 2014, 8:00 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. COURT OF APPEALS NO. 70395-1-I

90369-7

#### SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

DONNA GARCIA, a Washington resident; CONCEPCION GARCIA, an individual; PATRICIA JANE LIEKAM, as the Administrator of the Estate of Tiairra Garcia, a deceased person,

Petitioners,

vs.

THE CITY OF PASCO, a Washington municipal corporation

Respondent.

# RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT

ANDREA J. CLARE, WSBA #37889 LEAVY, SCHULTZ, DAVIS, CLARE & RUFF, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent 2415 W. Falls Avenue Kennewick, WA 99336 509-736-1330 509-736-1580 fax

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT OF LAW

# A. THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE RELIEVES THE CITY FROM ANY LIABILITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The Garcia family's claims against the City of Pasco for alleged failures in police work raise the specter of the familiar public duty doctrine. Washington has long abolished sovereign immunity. RCW 4.92.090. Nevertheless, the legislature's abolition of sovereign immunity did not affect the public duty doctrine. See Chambers-Castanes v King

County, 100 Wn.2d 275, 288, 669 P.2d 451 (1983). Under the public duty doctrine, a public official's duty to the general public cannot be a source of liability unless the "duty breached was owed to the injured person as an individual." Babcock v. Mason County Fire District, 144 Wn.2d 774, 785, 30 P.2d 1261 (2001). Stated differently, "a duty to all is a duty to no one." Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wn.2d 159, 163, 759 P.2d 447 (1988); J & B Development Co. v. King County, 100 Wn.2d 299, 303, 669 P.2d 468 (1983). The threshold determination in a negligence action is whether a duty of care is owed by the defendant to the plaintiff. Whether the defendant is a governmental entity or a private person, to be actionable, the duty must be one owed to the injured plaintiff, and not one owed to the public in general. Babcock v Mason County Fire Dist. No. 6, 144 Wn.2d 774, 784 (2001). The public duty doctrine is a 'focusing tool' that courts use to determine whether a public entity owes a duty to a 'nebulous public' or to a particular individual, such as Tiairra Garcia. Taylor v Stevens County, 111 Wn.2d 159, 166 (1988).

In numerous suits based upon the conduct of law enforcement agents, courts have summarily dismissed claims on the ground of the public duty doctrine, because the relationship of police officer to a citizen

is too general to create an actionable duty. Courts generally agree that responding to a citizen's call for assistance is basic to police work and not special to a particular individual. Torres v. City of Anacortes, 97 Wn. App. 64, 74, 981 P.2d 891 (1999); Adams v. City of Fremont, 68 Cal.App.4th 243, 279, 80 Cal.Rptr. 196 (1998). Accordingly, courts frequently deny recovery for injuries caused by the failure of police personnel to respond to requests for assistance, the failure to investigate properly, or the failure to investigate at all. Torres v. City of Anacortes, 97 Wn. App. 64, 74, 981 P.2d 891 (1999); Dever v. Fowler, 63 Wn.App. 35, 45, 816 P.2d 1237 (1991); Williams v. State, 34 Cal.3d 18, 25, 664 P.2d 137 (1983).

# B. THE VOLUNTARY RESCUE EXCEPTION IS INAPPLICABLE.

Donna Garcia contends the "voluntary rescue" exception rescues her suit from defeat. This rescue exception applies only when a governmental entity or its agent (1) undertakes a duty to aid or warn a person in danger; (2) fails to exercise reasonable care; and (3) offers to render aid, and as a result of the offer of aid, either the person to whom the aid is to be rendered, or another acting on that person's behalf, relies on

this governmental offer and consequently refrains from acting on the victim's behalf. Vergeson v. Kitsap County, 145 Wn. App. 526, 539, 186 P.3d 1140 (2008). For this exception, the offer to assist must be a "gratuitous" offer. Babcock v. Mason County Fire Dist. No. 6, 101 Wn. App. 677, 685, 5 P.3d 750 (2000), aff'd on other grounds, 144 Wn.2d 774, 30 P.3d 1261 (2001).

Under Washington case law, the offer to assist is not gratuitous if an emergency service responds in the normal course of its operations to an emergency. **Babcock v. Mason County Fire Dist. No. 6,** 101 Wn.App. 677, 5 P.3d 750 (2000), (fire department). Otherwise, the exception would swallow the rule and most people, calling a municipality for emergency assistance, would file a suit if the emergency response did not arrive in time. The law does not desire a municipality to be the insurer of emergency protection. A municipality is not in the business of guaranteeing the protection of citizens.

The decision of **Babcock v. Mason County Fire Dist. No. 6,** 101 Wn.App. 677, 5 P.3d 750 (2000), affirmed on other grounds, 144 Wn.2d 774, 30 P.3d 1261 (2001) controls this case. The Babcocks brought suit against a fire district, for damages arising out of a fire in their mobile

home. The Babcocks argued the fire district could have prevented the fire from spreading to their garage and a tent trailer, if the district had engaged in timely firefighting tactics. The Superior Court dismissed the suit on summary judgment and the appeals court and the state Supreme Court affirmed. The Supreme Court held that the duty to fight fires is a duty to the community, and not a duty to specific persons or property. 144 Wn.2d at 792. Sound public policy precludes judicial processes from governing a fire scene. 144 Wn.2d at 792.

Before the Court of Appeals, the Babcocks argued that the rescue exception to the public duty doctrine applied. The Babcocks asserted that, if they had known the fire district's response would not be timely, they would have taken alternative steps to save their property. The Babcocks argued that they neglected taking steps themselves to rescue their property, because of assurances, from the fire district, that their property would be saved. The Court of Appeals noted that integral to the rescue exception is that the rescuer, including a state agent, **gratuitously** assumes the duty to warn the endangered parties of the danger and breaches this duty by failing to warn them. 101 Wn.App. at 685. The fire district did not gratuitously assume fighting the Babcocks' house fire. Rather, the district was

established for the very purpose of fighting fires and protecting the property of all citizens, including, but not limited to, the Babcocks.

The state Supreme Court did not address, in **Babcock v. Mason**County Fire Dist. No. 6, the applicability of the rescue exception. The high court let stand the Court of Appeals decision on the issue. Perhaps the Supreme Court did not address the rescue doctrine, because of the frivolous nature of Babcock's argument.

The job of the Pasco police and the 911 dispatch center is to respond to emergencies. Thus, the 911 operator's statement that police would be sent to the scene was part and parcel of her job. Neither the operator nor the city's agents gave any gratuitous promises of assistance. Thus, the rescue exception is inapplicable to the facts here.

- C. AN OFFICER ARRIVING AT 1911 PARKVIEW DOES

  NOT CONSTITUTE AN AFFIRMATIVE ACT.
- 1. The **Washburn** case does not support an officer arrival as an affirmative act.

In her petition, Garcia argues that the 'act' giving rise to a duty was the officer arriving in response to the 911 call. However, Garcia confuses the facts and reasoning presented in **Washburn**, *supra*, with the

facts in the instant case. The two cases are inapposite. If law enforcement officers simply responding to a call were sufficient to create an affirmative act which imposes a legal duty to everyone and anyone, the rescue exception would swallow the public duty doctrine/rule entirely.

Fortunately, a brief review of Washburn, supra, shows the authority is not helpful to Garcia.

In Washburn, 178 Wn.2d 732, a man and woman argued and the police were called. The man was told to take a walk while the woman was given advice from an officer encouraging her to seek a nocontact order against the man. <u>Id</u>. The woman decided to seek court-ordered protection against the man so she went to the King County Justice Center and met with a domestic violence advocate. <u>Id</u>. As a result the woman was successful in obtaining a temporary order of protection (anti-harassment order) prohibiting the man from contacting the woman, entering or being within 500 of her residence. <u>Id</u>.

The woman in **Washburn**, *supra*, requested law enforcement serve her anti-harassment order upon the man. The law enforcement information sheet submitted with her order specified that the man was her domestic partner and he had no knowledge of her order nor

that such order would force him from the home and that the man would likely react violently to the service of said order. Moreover, the man was not proficient in English such that an interpreter would be helpful. <u>Id</u>.

Consequently, the officer failed to read the file prior to service. The officer confirmed the man's identity, saw the woman inside, but only advised the man that he needed to appear in court before leaving.

Id. The officer did not ensure the man vacated the premises. Hence, the 'protected' woman was left to explain that she had restrained the man and that he needed to vacate. Id. Ultimately, the man attacked the woman and she died. Id. Such facts are not remotely similar to Garcia's situation/death.

The reasoning set forth in the **Washburn** decision is also inapplicable to Garcia. The **Washburn** court focused on the legislative intent exception to the public duty doctrine. The exception allows a plaintiff to claim that a governmental entity owes him or her a legal duty where a legislative enactment "evidences a clear legislative intent to identify and protect a particular and circumscribed class of persons". **Honcoop v State,** 111 Wn.2d 182, 188 (1988). The legislative intent exception recognizes that the legislature may impose legal duties on

persons or other entities by proscribing or mandating certain conduct. Schooley v Pinch's Deli Market, Inc., 134 2d 474-75. In Washburn, the court held that Washington's legislature showed an intent to protect specific individuals in passing chapter 10.14. 178 Wn.2d at 755. In fact, the legislature explicitly stated "[t]he legislature finds that serious, personal harassment through repeated invasions of a person's privacy by acts and words showing a pattern of harassment designed to coerce, intimidate, or humiliate the victim is increasing. The legislature further finds that the prevention of such harassment is an important governmental objective." RCW 10.14.010. The Washburn court also found the statute evidenced a legislative intent to protect a particular class of persons, i.e. those suffering harassment at the hands of others. Accordingly, the High Court found the requirements of the legislative intent exception satisfied. Garcia doesn't argue the legislative intent exception but appears to cite the Washburn case, out of context, in effort to imply a law enforcement officer assumes a duty when 'arriving' to a residence. Indeed, a review of the Washburn opinion proves otherwise. Ultimately, the Washburn court found that the City of Federal Way owed the woman actionable legal duties relating to the service of the anti-harassment order.

2. The **Robb** case does not support an officer arrival as an affirmative act.

Procedurally and factually, the **Robb** case is more similar to Garcia than **Washburn** though **Robb** supports Pasco here. In **Robb**, infra, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeal's decision upholding the trial court's denial of the City's summary judgment motion, remanding to the trial court with directions to dismiss. <u>Id</u>. Garcia's conclusion that officer arrival on the scene establishes a legal duty is also not furthered by **Robb**.

(2013) was whether the police owe a duty to protect citizens from the criminal acts of a third party where the police failed to pick up bullets from the ground, near a Terry stop and one of the people detained but not arrested returned to the scene, picked up the bullets and later shot another person. The **Robb** court found relevant portions of the Restatement §302B comment *e* requires an affirmative act which creates or exposes another to a situation of peril. **Robb**, 176 Wn.2d at 435. Foreseeability alone is an insufficient basis for imposing a duty. <u>Id</u>.

The **Robb** court carefully analyzed the Restatement.

Ultimately, the outcome of **Robb** was dictated by basic tort principles. 176

Wn.,2d at 439. In order to properly separate conduct giving rise to liability from other conduct, courts have maintained a firm line between misfeasance and nonfeasance. <u>Id</u>. To label the conduct in Robb as affirmative, danger-creating conduct would threaten the distinction, leading to an unpredictable and unprecedented expansion of §302B liability. Therefore, because law enforcement only failed to eliminate a situation of peril but did not increase the danger by an affirmative act, the officers omission in **Robb** was insufficient to impose liability. <u>Id</u>.

At the Court of Appeals, Division I oral argument hearing, the Honorable Judge Applewick specifically asked Garcia's counsel what the affirmative act was in the instant case. Counsel hesitantly admitted there was no affirmative act taken by the officer. Despite weak arguments now advanced as a 'last chance', there remains no affirmative steps or acts taken by the law enforcement officer here who was responding to a hit and run. Assuming arguendo that the communication from dispatch to the officer regarding 'somebody being dragged to the back of a residence' was conveyed, the officer still took no affirmative acts or steps which would

have increased danger to Garcia. Along these lines, the officer was without sufficient basis or probable cause to take additional steps (i.e. to search the home or van) as suggested by Garcia. Finally, under the most unfortunate circumstances, the evidence suggests that Ms. Garcia was already deceased by the time law enforcement arrived such that any steps/acts taken by the officer would not nor could have increased harm.

### V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons and the articulated opinion set forth by Division I, discretionary review should be denied.